2005

Jody Best v. Damiler Chrysler Corporation, and Larry H. Miller Chrysler Jeep : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES:

ARGUMENT ONE - IT WAS REVERSIBLE ERROR FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO CONCLUDE AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT THERE WERE NO DEFECTIVE PARTS

Standard of review: Under Rule 56 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure the Trial Court must view all evidence in light most favorable to the non moving party and the Appellant Court must do the same, offering no deference to the Trial Court. Themy v. Seagull Enters., Inc., 595 P.2d 526 (Utah 1979)

This issue was raised before the Trial Court in the Memorandum of Points and Authorities filed in opposition to the Motion for Summary Judgment and was also raised with the Court at the hearing held on January 24, 2005, as reflected in the Transcript beginning at page 13.

ARGUMENT TWO - IT WAS REVERSIBLE ERROR FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO PRECLUDE THE PLAINTIFF'S EXPERT FROM DOING ADDITIONAL TESTING AND THEN HOLDING AGAINST THE PLAINTIFF FOR HAVING DONE NO ADDITIONAL TESTING

Standard of review: Under Rule 56 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure the Trial Court must view all evidence in light most favorable to the non moving party and the Appellant Court must do the same, offering no deference to the Trial Court. Themy v. Seagull Enters., Inc., 595 P.2d 526 (Utah 1979)

This issue was raised before the Trial Court in the Memorandum of Points and Authorities filed in opposition to the Motion for Summary Judgment and was also raised with the Court at the hearing held on January 24, 2005, as reflected in the Transcript beginning at page 13.

ARGUMENT THREE - THERE WERE DISPUTED MATERIAL ISSUES OF FACT THAT PRECLUDED SUMMARY JUDGMENT

Standard of review: Under Rule 56 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure the Trial Court must view all evidence in light most favorable to the non moving party and the Appellant Court must do the same, offering no deference to the Trial Court. Themy v. Seagull Enters., Inc., 595 P.2d 526 (Utah 1979)

This issue was raised before the Trial Court in the Memorandum of Points and Authorities filed in opposition to the Motion for Summary Judgment and was also raised with the Court at the hearing held on January 24, 2005, as reflected in the Transcript beginning at page 13.

ARGUMENT FOUR - IT WAS REVERSIBLE ERROR FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO CONSIDER DEFENDANTS' AFFIDAVIT FILED AS PART OF THEIR REPLY MEMORANDUM

Standard of review: Under Rule 56 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure the Trial Court must view all evidence in light most favorable to the non moving party and the Appellant Court must do the same, offering no deference to the Trial Court. Themy v. Seagull Enters., Inc., 595 P.2d 526 (Utah 1979)

This issue was raised before the Trial Court in the Memorandum of Points and Authorities filed in opposition to the Motion for Summary Judgment and was also raised with the Court at the hearing held on January 24, 2005, as reflected in the Transcript beginning at page 13.

DETERMINATIVE LAW

According to Rule 56(c) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure the Trial Court may not grant summary judgment if there are any "genuine issues as to any material fact."

(c) *Motion and proceedings thereon.* The motion, memoranda and affidavits shall be filed and served in accordance with CJA 4-501. The judgment sought shall be rendered if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. A summary judgment, interlocutory in character, may be rendered on the issue of liability alone although there is a genuine issue as to the amount of damages.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The above referenced matter is on appeal from an order of the District Court granting a Motion for Summary Judgment.

NATURE OF THE CASE

The Trial Court granted the Defendants Motion for Summary Judgment on the basis that there was no genuine issue of material fact and that the Defendants were entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

This matter is being appealed as the appellant believes that there were many genuine issues of material fact precluding Summary Judgment.

COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS

In this action the Defendants filed two Motions for Summary Judgment.

The Court denied the first with allowing additional discovery and after of the completion of the same granted the second Motion for Summary Judgment.

DISPOSITION OF THE TRIAL COURT

The Court decided in the above referenced matter based upon the Affidavits on file and the Memoranda filed by the respective parties.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. Appellant and her family, in 1995, purchased one used 1993 Sundance, Plymouth Duster. (Note record at page 1041).
2. On or about September 21, 1999 Appellant was operating the Duster in a parking lot at approximately 800 East and 7000 South, in Midvale, Utah, when she was merely

shifting from reverse to forward, after pulling out of a parking space, and the airbag in the Duster exploded in her face. (Note record at page 1042).

3. Appellant had barely placed the car in the forward gear and began accelerating when the explosion occurred. (Note record at page 1042).

4. Appellant was not involved in any kind of collision, nor did she hit any bumps, rocks, etc. that would have jarred the car in any way. (Note record at page 1042).

5. Appellant immediately went in and out of consciousness and remembers some of the events that followed. (Note record at page 1042).

6. When the emergency vehicles arrived there was a discussion regarding calling a Life Flight Helicopter to take Appellant to the hospital, however Appellant was transported by ambulance to the Cottonwood Hospital since it was so much closer and a Life Flight Helicopter would take too long. (Note record at page 1042).

7. Appellant's injuries included severe head and face trauma, trauma to her abdomen and chest, severe headaches, as well as burns from her legs to her head, she has experienced blood clots, problems with her respiration, internal injuries, both immediate and long term memory loss and very severe Post-Traumatic Stress Syndrome. (Note record at page 1042)

8. Appellant has had to have her face reconstructed and has had to have parts of her abdomen removed. (Note record at page 1042)

9. Appellant has been to the hospital several times, has seen many, many doctors and is currently, even at the time of this writing, still under medications and under a doctor's care. (Note record at page 1042).

10. Appellant still has excruciating headaches, has numbness on the top of her head, and has had long term Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder Syndrome and Disassociative Disorder, and still has continuing significant difficulty recalling events in her life. (Note record at page 1042).

11. Appellant originally brought an action against Defendant, Daimler Chrysler Corporation and then filed an Amended Complaint naming Larry H. Miller, Chrysler Jeep, and Dan Worth dba Worth's Custom Body and Paint. (Note record at page 72 and following)

12. The Appellant filed a timely designation of expert witnesses, however her expert witness Dru Dixon closed down his business and moved, with no forwarding address. (Note transcript on April 5, 2004 at page 4 and following).

13. Immediately thereafter Appellant moved the Lower Court for an authorization allowing Gregory Barnett to be substituted as Plaintiff's expert witness on liability. (Note record at page 1073)

14. The Lower Court allowed the same however, the Judge specifically ordered that Gregory Barnett would not be allowed to do any additional research and testing of the subject vehicle after the date of November 1, 2003, even though he had only been engaged on or about October 30, 2003. (Note transcript at page 11, 22 and 33-37 of the April 5th hearing)

15. All three Defendants filed Motions for Summary Judgment and the Trial Court held for the Defendants on the alleged basis that Mr. Gregory Barnett had not done requisite research and testing on the subject vehicle.

16. Gregory Barnett's opinion regarding defective parts was based on the Daimler Chrysler on board computer read out done at a Daimler Chrysler Dealership, using Daimler Chrysler equipment, operated by a Daimler Chrysler Dealer employee and the Daimler Chrysler Official Vehicle Manual. (Note transcript at pages 13 through 22).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In this action the Honorable Timothy R. Hanson granted the Defendants Motion for Summary Judgment holding that there were no defective parts in the airbag system. However the Lower Court in reality held that there was a defective Daimler Chrysler Computer instead of defective Daimler Chrysler Sensors. So either way the Motion was not well taken.

The Trial Court limited the expert witness of the Plaintiff from doing additional testing and then held against the Plaintiff for her failure to do additional testing.

There were many genuine material issues of fact in dispute precluding Summary Judgment.

This case really reflects a battle of the experts.

Lastly the Court allowed the Defendants to submit a new Affidavit in their Reply Memorandum over the objection of the Plaintiff specifically referring the Court to the Code of Judicial Administration and the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

ARGUMENT ONE

IT WAS REVERSIBLE ERROR FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO CONCLUDE AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT THERE WERE NO DEFECTIVE PARTS

It is undisputed that after the 1996 accident the Daimler Chrysler Plymouth Duster had repairs done to the airbag system using Daimler Chrysler replacement parts. Note Record at page 552 and following.

It is undisputed that the sensors and the ASDM (onboard computer) were all Daimler Chrysler parts. Note Record at page 552 and following.

It is undisputed that the Plaintiff took the Daimler Chrysler Plymouth Duster to a Daimler Chrysler dealership and had a Daimler Chrysler mechanic, using Daimler Chrysler equipment conclude that there were two shorts in the airbag system, ie: Squib Short and Front Sensor Short. Note Record at page 991 and following.

It is undisputed that the Official Daimler Chrysler Manual located at page #1651 and following of the Record, shows that the subject readings indicated defective parts.

When the Trial Court ruled that the ASDM (onboard computer) was defective instead of the sensors being defective, the same provided no basis for granting the Summary Judgment as the Trial Court was merely substituting one defective Daimler Chrysler part for another Daimler Chrysler part. Note Transcript at pages 43, 44 and 45 of the hearing on January 24th, 2005.

In as much as disposition of the case by Summary Judgment denies the non moving party the benefit of a trial on the merits any doubt concerning questions of fact including all evidence and reasonable inferences drawn from the evidence must be resolved in favor of the Plaintiff.

Brick Co. v. Robinson Brick Co., 780 P.2d 827 (Utah Ct. App. 1989)

ARGUMENT TWO

IT WAS REVERSIBLE ERROR FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO PRECLUDE THE PLAINTIFF'S EXPERT FROM DOING ADDITIONAL TESTING AND THEN HOLDING AGAINST THE PLAINTIFF FOR HAVING DONE NO ADDITIONAL TESTING

At page #4 of the Transcript of April 5, 2004, it was established that the Plaintiff had retained a substitute expert witness on October 30, 2003 and that he had done his initial analysis and submitted his Affidavit on November 1, 2003, some two (2) days or so later.

At page #22 the Trial Court ordered that this substitute expert would not be allowed to do any additional testing on the subject vehicle. (Also note transcript at pages 11 and 33-37)

As noted on page #1981 of the Record in the ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT, the Trial Court held against the Plaintiff because the Plaintiffs expert had conducted no additional testing.

Appellant submits that since Summary Judgment prevents the parties from fully presenting their case to the Court, the Court should be reluctant to invoke the procedure. Brandt v. Springville Banking Co., 10 Utah 2d 350, 353 P.2d 460 (Utah, 1960).

Appellant respectfully submits that it was an abuse of discretion and a reversible error for the Trial Court to prevent testing and then hold against the Plaintiff for not having done additional testing.

Since the Summary Judgment is a drastic remedy, strict compliance with the rules is required and the same should be granted only when there is no prejudice to either side from presenting their evidence to the Court. Timm v. Dewsnap, 851 P.2d 1178 (Utah, 1993).

ARGUMENT THREE

THERE WERE DISPUTED MATERIAL ISSUES OF FACT THAT PRECLUDED SUMMARY JUDGMENT

According to Rule 56(c) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure the Trial Court may not grant summary judgment if there are any “genuine issues as to any material fact.”

(c) Motion and proceedings thereon. The motion, memoranda and affidavits shall be filed and served in accordance with CJA 4-501. The judgment sought shall be rendered if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. A summary judgment, interlocutory in character, may be rendered on the issue of liability alone although there is a genuine issue as to the amount of damages.

This matter was a classic case of a battle between the experts.

The Defendant’s expert Mike Cassidy suggested in his affidavits by way of exclusion that the airbag wrongfully deployed because of a problem in the clock spring which was housed in the steering column.

The Plaintiff’s expert Gregory Barnett conclusively stated under oath that it was the defective parts and not the clock spring that caused the airbag to wrongfully deploy.

Appellant submits that the Affidavit of Mike Cassidy, dated August 26th, 2003, did not constitute a basis for the Court to grant Summary Judgment for the following reasons:

1. At page 459 of the record Mr. Cassidy’s Affidavit starts out:

“MICHAEL P. CASSIDY, being above the age of 21, and fully capable of attesting to the facts hereinafter, makes the following Affidavit.”

This purported Affidavit does not start off with “State of Utah”, “County of Salt Lake”, that the Affiant is “first duly sworn” nor that the paragraphs that follow were “true to the best of Affiant’s knowledge, information and belief”.

There is no requirement that the Affiant be over the age of 21 and so the reference to the same frankly is meaningless.

The language that Mr. Cassidy is “fully capable of attesting to the facts hereunder” is also meaningless as it does not even suggest that the statements are true. Rather it suggests that Mr. Cassidy is able to attest.

This approach placed no evidence before the Court.

The policy of Rule 56(c) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure is that “the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits” provide sworn testimony upon which the Court can decide that there is no evidence to support the non moving party’s position.

For Mr. Cassidy to start off his statement with the idea that he is both 21 and fully capable of attesting to facts does not amount to sworn testimony and therefore what he has to say may be interesting, but surely provides the Court no basis to summarily dispose of the Plaintiff’s claims.

Hence this is not an Affidavit, it is merely his “Statement of Claims”.

2. At page 459 of the Record, Mr. Mike Cassidy tells the Lower Court what qualified him to render an expert opinion on airbags. He said in paragraph #2 as follows:

“2. I was previously employed by Daimler Chrysler Corporation (“DCC”), formerly Chrysler Corporation, as a Product Analysis Senior Specialist. I worked in this position for over 15 years. I worked for 33 years in the automotive industry

and have held various engineering related positions, including Manager, Jeep Electrical Engineering. I attended the University of Toledo and received a Bachelors Degree in Electrical Engineering in 1980. I have knowledge of industry practices in design, testing and manufacturing of automobiles.”

Appellant submits that if this is all Mike Cassidy can say about his background, including his skills, his education and his experience he is not a qualified witness to render any kind of opinion regarding airbags and their deployment.

At no time did Mr. Michael Cassidy supply the Court with any kind of Curriculum Vitae

While the most recent rule regarding the testimony of expert witnesses is very broad, here Mr. Cassidy provides the Lower Court with no basis to suggest that he has any knowledge, any skill, any experience, any training, or any education regarding airbags and their deployment.

According to Rule 702 of the Utah Rules of Evidence one must meet certain criteria in order to offer an expert opinion:

Rule 702. Testimony by experts.

If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.

Here Mr. Cassidy does not show the Court any basis whatsoever that he has any knowledge, skill, expertise, training or education regarding the Plymouth Duster.

Additionally Mr. Cassidy does not show the Court any basis whatsoever that he has any knowledge, skill, expertise, training or education regarding airbags.

The Utah Rules of Civil Procedure at Rule 56(e) provides the following:

“(e) Form of affidavits; further testimony; defense required.

Supporting and opposing affidavits shall be made on personal knowledge, shall set forth such facts as would be admissible in evidence, and shall show affirmatively that the affiant is competent to testify to the matters stated therein. Sworn or certified copies of all papers or parts thereof referred to in an affidavit shall be attached thereto or served therewith. The Court may permit affidavits to be supplemented or opposed by depositions, answers to interrogatories, or further affidavits, when a motion for summary judgment is made and supported as provided in this rules, an adverse party may not rest upon the mere allegations or denials of his pleading, but his response, by affidavits or as otherwise provided in this rule, must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial. If he does not so respond, summary judgment, if appropriate shall be entered against him.

Appellant submits that not only is the Affidavit of Mike Cassidy a mere unsworn “Statement of Claims”, it fails to enlighten the Court in any way as to how Mr. Cassidy has any expertise whatsoever that is relevant to the Plymouth Duster and specifically relevant to the airbag and its deployment.

In the case of Gaw v. State, 798P.2d 1130 (Utah Ct. App 1990) the Court of Appeals held that an expert witness giving an expert opinion must state in his Affidavits sufficient facts upon which the opinion is based and the facts must be those typically relied upon by experts in the field. Also note Butterfield v. Okubo, 831 P.2d 97 (Utah 1992).

He says in paragraph #2 that he worked for Daimler Chrysler for 15 years, however this does not shed any light whatsoever as to why he would have any knowledge regarding the Plymouth Duster and its airbag.

Rather it does show that he is a biased witness and this is really born out when this Court looks at his conclusions regarding the clock spring, as the clock spring could not have possibly caused the deployment, according to the Official Daimler Chrysler Manual, as the clockspring is merely a conduit for the electrical signal to pass through and is not the originator of the signal nor does it have any electrical current in it whatsoever except as sent through it by the ASDM.

3. Many of the paragraphs beginning with paragraph #3 and following are on their face rank speculation.

Mr. Cassidy provides no explanation whatsoever how he would know what is in paragraph #3 of his statement.

He states “3. In April 1993, DCC manufactured a Plymouth Duster automobile, bearing vehicle identification number 3P3XP6439PT598491 (hereinafter the “Duster”).”

How does Mr. Cassidy know this? Was he there? Did he see this? Is this statement based upon his personal observation and he just happens to remember the VIN?

Many of the paragraphs following are similarly rank speculation.

In the case of Utah Farm Prod. Credit Ass’n v. Watts, 737 P.2d 154 (Utah 1987) the Supreme Court held that even when there are big corporations with lots of employees, Affidavits still must be based on personal knowledge and the Affiant must set out his means and sources for his information. Also note Strange v. Ostlund, 594 P.2d 877 (Utah 1979), Treloggan v. Treloggan, 699 P.2d 747 (Utah 1985).

Additionally hearsay testimony and opinion testimony if not admissible at trial is surely not admissible in Affidavits. Walker v. Rocky Mt. Recreation Corp., 29 Utah 2d

274, 598 P.2d 538 (1973), Western States Thrift & Loan Co. v. Blomquist, 29 Utah 2d 58, 504 P.2d 1019 (1972). Also note Norton v. Blackham, 669 P.2d 857 (Utah 1983).

Surely there is nothing in his “Statement of Claims” to enlighten the Lower Court as to why he would have any knowledge whatsoever regarding this testimony.

Another classical example in Mr. Mike Cassidy’s “Statement of Claims” is paragraph #6 wherein he states: “6. The Duster was inspected as part of the DCC quality control system in place in April 1993.”

Here Mr. Cassidy tells the Court that he has knowledge that this Duster was in fact inspected.

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