2005

Jody Best v. Damiler Chrysler Corporation, and Larry H. Miller Chrysler Jeep : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

¹² The manual referred to is not a DCC publication. (R. 1644 at ¶ 9.a). As can be seen on the pages of this manual attached to Barnett’s affidavit, various illustrations are reproduced “courtesy of Chrysler Corp.” (R. 1610). If this manual were a publication of DCC or its predecessor, Chrysler Corporation, there would be no need to obtain permission from DCC or Chrysler to reproduce these illustrations.

charts and illustrations.” (R. 1612). These “diagnostic charts and illustrations” are not attached to Barnett’s affidavit.

Moreover, the selected pages from the repair manual attached to Barnett’s affidavit do not simply indicate that the ASDM should be replaced, and then stop. To the contrary, the second of the three pages submitted by Barnett explains that a “verification test” or “system operational check” should always be performed after a component is replaced “to ensure proper system operation”:

After component replacement, perform a system operational check to ensure proper system operation. See SYSTEM OPERATION CHECK¹³.

* * *

When using diagnostic charts, DO NOT skip any steps in chart or incorrect diagnosis may result. * * * Always perform TEST VER-1 – VERIFICATION TEST after repairs are made.

(R. 1611, emphasis in original). Thus, after inserting a new ASDM and/or front sensor, the mechanic would not stop, but would then perform a “verification test” or “system operation check” to determine if the fault had been corrected. The fact that such testing is required, after a component is replaced, indicates that merely replacing the component may not solve the problem, and, therefore, that the problem may not have been located in that component. Here, for example, if the ASDM had been replaced after the airbag icon illuminated and before the incident of September 1999, the problem would not have been solved. (R. 1644 at ¶ 9.b).

Thus, the fault code message “safing sensor short” does not necessarily mean that the fault lies in the safing sensor (or ASDM) and not in the clockspring. In contrast,

Cassidy's complete analysis demonstrated that the fault occurred in the clockspring and not the sensors. Barnett's conclusory reliance upon an incomplete passage from a repair manual therefore does not raise a genuine issue of fact.

In his supplemental affidavit, Barnett asserts that "the clockspring is not part of the front sensor circuit and so running a wire around the clockspring will indicate nothing because it is the output portion of the circuit and not the input portion of the circuit." (R. 1604 at ¶ 12). This assertion contradicts itself. If the clockspring is part of the "output portion of the circuit," then the clockspring is by definition part of the circuit. (R. 1646 at ¶ 14). Certainly a party cannot create a factual issue by self-contradiction.

Barnett asserts that the short circuits could not have occurred in the clockspring because if the clockspring had been defective, the short circuits "would have occurred immediately after the Plaintiff took possession of the subject vehicle in 1996," following repair of the damage from the 1996 Accident. (R. 1050 at ¶ 22). This conclusory assertion fails to address the nature of the problem in the clockspring.

The condition inside the clockspring which led to the short circuits which in turn caused the airbag to deploy was created by the repeated over-rotation of the steering wheel during normal use after the improper steering rack was installed in 1999. (R. 463 at ¶ 22; 1425 at ¶ 22; 1553 at ¶ 9). The clockspring would therefore not have short-circuited immediately after the damage from the 1996 Accident was repaired, because the flat wires were incrementally damaged by repeated over-rotation of the steering wheel,

¹³ In fact, this message appears twice, once at the top left and again at the bottom left of page 76 of the repair manual. (R. 1611).

not catastrophically damaged in a single event. (R. 463 at ¶ 22; 1425 at ¶ 22; 1553 at ¶ 9). Moreover, the improper steering rack was not installed until 1999. (1553 at ¶ 9).

B. Plaintiff's Miscellaneous Arguments Fail to Raise a Genuine Factual Issue.

Accepting Cassidy's observation that the steering column is misaligned, plaintiff asserts that DCC is nonetheless responsible for the resulting damage to the clockspring because the steering column and steering rack are both DCC parts. (Appellant's Brief at pp.15, 33, 35). This assertion is not supported by the record. Rather, plaintiff is attempting to create a factual issue by crisscrossing statements from Barnett and Cassidy which relate to different subjects.

Cassidy stated – based on his inspection of the underside of the Duster – that the original steering rack had been replaced by an “after-market” part, some time in early 1999. (R. 462-463 at ¶ 20; 1424 at ¶ 20; 1553 at ¶ 9). Cassidy also noted that this replacement steering rack was the incorrect part for the Duster, causing the steering coupler to hit the brake pedal when the steering wheel was turned. (R. 463 at ¶ 23; 1425 at ¶ 23; 1553 at ¶ 9). Barnett did not dispute any of these observations. Rather, Barnett asserted that all of the parts used to repair the Duster after the 1996 Accident were official DCC parts. (R. 1049-1050 at ¶¶ 18-19; 1535-1536 at ¶¶ 18-19).

Barnett's assertion does not contradict Cassidy's observation because the steering rack was not replaced as part of the repairs following the 1996 Accident but was replaced in early 1999. (R. 1553 at ¶ 9). Moreover, the components used by Worth during the 1996 repairs were purchased from Miller, and Miller never sold a steering rack to Worth.

(R. 1562-1563 at ¶ 6). Thus, Cassidy's observation that the steering rack is not an official DCC part remains uncontradicted.

Plaintiff concedes that the "steering column apparatus" is so badly misaligned that the Duster would not have passed DCC's quality control inspection program in 1993 in this condition. (Appellant's Brief at pp.12-13, 25). Nonetheless, plaintiff asserts that the deployment of the airbag in September 1999 caused this misalignment and "apparently rearranged the entire column." (Appellant's Brief at pp.11-13). This assertion fails to raise a genuine issue of material fact for at least two reasons. First, plaintiff never made this assertion in the trial court, but offers it for the first time on appeal. Matters not presented to the trial court will not be considered on appeal. Franklin Financial v. New Empire Development Co., 659 P.2d 1040, 1044 (Utah 1983); Salt Lake City Corp. v. James Constructors, Inc., 761 P.2d 42, 46 (Utah App. 1988).

Second, there is absolutely no evidence that the misalignment of the steering column was caused by the deployment of the airbag. To overcome this gap, plaintiff erroneously asserts that "A simple review of the pictures shows that the car could not be driven at all because of the way the steering column was broken and down on the brake." (Appellant's Brief at p.25). The "pictures" do not support this assertion. Although the "pictures" show the steering coupler contacting the brake pedal, they do not show that "the car could not be driven". (See R. 1431-1433).

Plaintiff asserts that the clockspring could not have caused the airbag to deploy because the clockspring is not the source of electrical energy or electrical signals but "is merely a conduit for the electrical signal to pass through." (Appellant's Brief at pp.7, 9,

10). It is true that the clockspring is not a source of electrical energy but is merely a conduit through which electrical energy and signals pass. (See R. 460 at ¶ 11; 1422 at ¶ 11). However, it does not follow from these facts that damage to the wires inside the clockspring could not cause the airbag to deploy.

To the contrary, electrical energy passes through wires inside the clockspring, from the battery to the airbag module in the steering wheel. (R. 460 at ¶ 11; 1422 at ¶ 11). Plaintiff admitted this. (R. 1399 at ¶ 8; 1587 at ¶ 8). Since electrical energy passes through the clockspring from the battery to the airbag module, a short circuit in the clockspring could certainly cause the airbag to deploy. (R. 463 at ¶ 22; 1425 at ¶ 22). Plaintiff simply fails to understand how the clockspring operates.

Relying on a statement in Barnett's affidavit, plaintiff asserts that the clockspring could not have been damaged because it is a "sealed unit." (Appellant's Brief at pp.24-25). The record does not support this assertion. Barnett's statement relates to damage caused by "disassembling" the Duster. (R. 1050 at ¶ 21; 1536 at ¶ 21). It has no bearing on damage caused by repeated over-rotation of the steering wheel during normal use.

Plaintiff asserts that both Cassidy and Barnett "conducted the exact same test to determine how the airbag wrongfully deployed" and "were absolutely consistent in their methodology." (Appellant's Brief at pp.28-29). This assertion strays wide of the truth. Cassidy actually inspected the Duster; Barnett did not. Cassidy actually tested the various components of the Duster's airbag system; Barnett did not. Cassidy actually conducted a fault code scan, whereas Barnett merely looked at pictures of the scan conducted by Cassidy or another examiner. (R. 1550-1551 at ¶ 4; 1595).

The only point in common between the methodology employed by Cassidy and that employed by Barnett is that both included a fault code scan (or at least pictures of the results of a fault code scan) as part of their analysis. Both experts looked at the same fault code readings; therefore both used the same starting point. (R. 1550-1551 at ¶ 4). Barnett, however, looked only at the results of the fault code scan and then offered his opinions, even though he admits that further steps must be taken. In contrast, Cassidy conducted a fault code scan and then followed through with a complete analysis: he isolated the clockspring by means of a wiring test; he removed the sensors and ASDM for testing; and he carefully inspected both the interior and exterior of the Duster. Cassidy had a factual basis for his conclusions; Barnett did not.

Plaintiff asserts that if the DRB cannot indicate a short circuit in the clockspring, then Cassidy could not determine that the fault occurred in the clockspring, because Cassidy relied upon the results of a fault code scan conducted with a DRB. (Appellant's Brief at p.23). Plaintiff forgets that in addition to conducting a fault code scan, Cassidy also tested the front sensors and ASDM and performed a wiring test of the steering column. Thus, Cassidy was able to pinpoint the location of the short circuits by conducting a more thorough analysis than simply reading the results of a fault code scan.

C. It Is Uncontradicted that the Short Circuits Inside the Clockspring Which Allowed the Airbag to Deploy Were Caused by the Installation of an Improper Steering Rack.

In her response to the renewed motion for summary judgment, plaintiff denied defendants' assertions that the steering rack on the Duster was replaced with an after-market steering rack; that this after-market steering rack was not the proper part for the

Duster; that this improper replacement of the steering rack caused the steering column to be misaligned; that this misalignment of the steering column allowed the steering coupler to contact the brake pedal and allowed the steering wheel to over-rotate; that the over-rotation of the steering wheel during normal use damaged the flat wires inside the clockspring; and that this damage to the wires inside the clockspring led to the short circuits which caused the airbag to deploy. (R. 1405-1406 at ¶¶ 46-50; 1589-1591 at ¶¶ 46-50). Indeed, this is the only significant portion of the factual assertions made by DCC in its renewed motion for summary judgment which plaintiff did deny. (Compare R. 1398-1406 at ¶¶ 1-58 with 1587-1591 at ¶¶ 1-58). These pro-forma denials do not raise a genuine factual issue, however.

In attempted compliance with former Rule 4-501(2)(B), R.J.A. (now Rule 7(c), U.R.Civ.P.), plaintiff supported her denials of these factual assertions by reference to Barnett's original affidavit, supplemental affidavit, and deposition, and unspecified discovery responses. (See R. 1589-1591 at ¶¶ 46-50). Plaintiff referenced the exact same material in regard to each factual assertion. (Id.). However, plaintiff did not submit the unspecified discovery responses with her opposition. Thus, the entire basis for plaintiff's denials of these assertions in defendants' statement of material facts must be found in the referenced portions of Barnett's affidavits and deposition, or there is none.

Space limitations preclude defendants from reviewing the referenced material in detail. Nonetheless, suffice it to say that nowhere in the referenced material does Barnett address the steering rack, steering column, steering wheel, or the subject of over-rotation. In this material, the only relevant points which Barnett attempts to make (in his

conclusory way) are that the short circuits could not have occurred in the clockspring because the DRB did not display a read-out which said “clockspring”; that the clockspring could not have been damaged during the disassembly of the Duster because it is a sealed unit; and that if the clockspring had been damaged during the repair of the Duster following the 1996 Accident, the airbag would have deployed before September of 1999. The underlying flaws in these assertions have already been demonstrated.

Thus, it is uncontradicted that the steering rack is an after-market part and not the correct part for the Duster; that the installation of this improper steering rack caused a misalignment of the steering column (as evidenced by the steering coupler contacting the brake pedal); that this misalignment of the steering column allowed the steering wheel to be over-rotated; that the repeated over-rotation of the steering wheel during normal use damaged the flat wires inside the clockspring; and that this damage to the wires inside the clockspring led to the short circuits which caused the airbag to deploy. In fact, plaintiff now concedes that the steering column is out of alignment as evidenced by the steering coupler contacting the brake pedal. (Appellant’s Brief at pp.12-13, 25).

D. The Court Properly Found It Was Uncontradicted That All Components of the Airbag System Except the Damaged Clockspring Were Free From Defects.

Believing the court “ruled that the ASDM (on board computer) was defective instead of the sensors being defective,” plaintiff argues that the court “was merely substituting one defective [DCC] part for another.” (Appellant’s Brief at p.1; see also pp. 9 and 50). Before exposing the many flaws in this argument it is necessary to understand what the court actually ruled and why.

During the hearing on the renewed motions for summary judgment, plaintiff's counsel repeatedly asserted that Barnett could conclusively determine the existence of defects in the airbag system merely by looking at the fault code messages or "read-outs" from the ASDM displayed on the DRB. (R. 1999 at 16:20 – 18:19; 20:5-15; 21:12-15; 25:8-12). Based on these read-outs, plaintiff argued to the trial court that defects in the front sensors caused the airbag to deploy. (Id. at 27:5-13). Counsel for DCC and Miller, however, explained that Cassidy actually removed these sensors, tested them and found them to be free from defects. (Id. at 4:11 – 5:3; 8:9-17; 22:1-18; 24:1-5).

Faced with uncontradicted evidence that Cassidy actually tested the sensors and found them to be free from defects, the court was incredulous that plaintiff would rely solely on the computer read-outs from the fault code scan. (Id. at 16:21 – 25:13-24). Recognizing that computers are not infallible and that Cassidy had actually tested the sensors and found them to be free from defects, the court found it to be uncontradicted that the sensors were not defective. (Id. at 25:24 – 26:25; 27:5 – 29:12; 43:14 – 44:14). Exercising his "responsibility as a gatekeeper for expert witnesses," and noting that "there has to be some logical basis" for an expert's opinions, the court found Barnett's conclusory reliance on the fault code messages to be "pretty short sighted," because the computer could err. (Id. at 28:6 – 30:14).

Plaintiff now argues that it was erroneous to enter summary judgment on this basis, because the computer is also a DCC part. This new argument must be rejected for at least three reasons. First, plaintiff asserted in the trial court that the computer was functioning properly and that the inadvertent deployment was caused by defects in the

front sensors. (Id. at 14:19 – 24; 21:7-9; 27:5-13). Plaintiff cannot now reverse her position and argue that a defect in the computer caused the deployment. Zions National Bank v. National American Title Insurance Co., 749 P.2d 651, 654 (Utah 1988) (appellate court will not consider issues raised for first time on appeal).

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